D.C. HISTORIC PRESERVATION REVIEW BOARD

APPLICATION FOR
HISTORIC DISTRICT

APPLICATION TO:
X designate
amend
summary of amendments
rescind

GENERAL INFORMATION

Name or Proposed Name of Historic District: _01d Woodley Park Historic
District

Summary description of proposed or amended boundaries: Beqinning at the
southeast corner at the intersection of 29th Street and Cathedral Avenue in
the northwest quadrant, proceed southeast along the enter line of Cathedral
Avenue across Connecticut Avenue to include only 2269 Cathedral Avenue on the
northern side of Cathedral Avenue; proceed along the center line to where
Cathedral Avenue crosses under Connecticut Avenue: proceed north along the
center of the road-bed of Connecticut Avenue to the intersection of
Connecticut Avenue and Calvert Street: proceed west along the center line of
Calvert Street to 24th Street; proceed north along the center line of 24th
Street to Connecticut Avenue; proceed northwest along the center line of
Connecticut Avenue to its intersection with Woodley Road; proceed west along
the center line of Woodley Road to its intersection with 29th Street: proceed
north alaong the center line of 29th Street to its intersection with Cathedral
Avenue. This boundary includes private property located in squares numbered
2202, 2203, 2204, 2205, 2206, 2207, 2208, 2209, 2211, 2107, 2108, 2108, 2111.

See map as attached in 410.24.

Name of applicant Woodley Park Community Association
(If applicant is a community or neighborhood association, it must
submit evidence that a substantial number of its members reside or
own property in the proposed Historic District; if applicant is an
organization, it must submit evidence that among its purposes is
the promotion of historic preservation in the District of
Columbia. A copy of its charter, articles of incorporation, or
by-laws, setting forth such purpose, will satisfy this
requirement.)

Address of Applicant 2800 28th Street, N.W, Washington, D.C. 20008
Telephone 202-483—5625 _(home) 7/5 7124 (offégef;/j

o L S

/ Signature of Applicaht or author1zed/representative
Ei/fg/éx; Presijdent, Woodley Park Community Association
Date Title of authorized reprssentative




410.21 A statement of the prehistoric, historic,
architectural and/or cultural significance of the
proposed or proposed amended Historic District, and a
general description of those qualities which make it .

significant.

The neighborhood now known as 01d Woodley Park is a distinct urban
neighborhood, characterized by stately queues of dignified 20th century
rowhouses carefully articulated in the classical language of architecture,
embellished by the rich greenery of street landscape, and bordered by sweeping
parklands. Its current boundaries were first delineated in the mid-1870s as a
subdivision of rural property by the anonymous A.E. Kervand. Later, the noted
land speculator Thomas Waggaman acquired Woodley Park and, after his untimely
demise, the numerous rows of refined dwellings were built, tangibly forming
the singular 20th-century neighborhood that retains its 19th-century name.

Woodley Park’s history is thus bonded with the risks inherent in the process
of suburban development within the District of Columbia. An unrealized early
suburban plan and the bankruptcy of a major Washington financier are critical
to the story of its development and tie this small area into the major events
of Washington’s past. The unique architectural character of 01d Woodley Park
js formed by strings of handsome, 20th-century rowhouses and townhouses set
upon the rolling topography of verdurous woodland. These residences were
designed and constructed by a variety of notable local builders and
architects, men who shaped residential Washington in the early decade of the
20th century including: Middaugh and Shannon, Harry Wardman, Clarke Waggaman,
Albert H. Beers, A.H. Sonnemann, Hunter and Bell, William Allard, Joseph Bonn,
and Gecrge T. Santmyers. The neighborhood’s visual coherence--the buildings’
similarity of massing, style, color of materials, height, and relation to the
street--delineates Woodley Park, and it is the subdued interpretation of
Classical and Colonial Revival styles as inherited from British and American
sources--so important to the early years of the 20th century--that marks it.

The research and survey effort on Woodley Park concludes that the area
qualifies for designation as a historic district in the District of Columbia
because it meets the following Criteria as established by final rules of the
D.C. Historic reservation Review Board appearing in the D.C. Register, April
12, 1985:

Criterion (a) (1): The history of Woodley Park’s delayed emergence as a
neighborhood is significantly associated with the speculative gambles
that contributed to the suburban development of the County of wWashington
following its incorporation into the formal boundaries of the National

Capital;

Criterion (a) (3): The buildings in Woodley Park embody the
distinguishing characteristics of architectural styles and building -
types significant to the appearance and development of the National
Capital in the 20th century;



The study of the social, cultural, and architectural history of the Woodley
Park ncighborhood indicates that the area also meets the following criteria

e

for lTisting on the National Register of Historic Places:

Criterion A: The history of the development of the neighborhood
illustrates the forces behind suburban development important to
understanding the expansion of the City of Washington into the
outlying areas of the District of Columbia and the transition of
this area from a rural to an urban environment that marked
Washington, D.C.’s growth into a 20th century city.

Criterion C: The buildings within the boundaries of the area
embody the distinctive characteristics of a 20th century urban
neighborhood in Washington, D.C. that forms a distinguishable
entity, cohesive in building forms, architecture, and uses.

The Woodley Park Community Association, based on analysis of the data
collected, has approved a set of guidelines of significant characteristics to
govern the development, redevelopment and modifications of buildings and sites
located within the proposed historic district. These guidelines are
incorporated by reference into this application and are found in Attachment A
of this document. They are intended to guide the city’s review when making
determinations of permit approval of actions within the historic district.



410.22 1f district is proposed for designation principally
for its architectural significance, a description of
the style or styles of architecture representative of
the district and a statement of the extent to which
such architectural style or styles has been
maintained. (If district is proposed both for
architectural and prehistoric, historic and/or
cultural significance, this section may be combined
with Section 410.23).

Platted in the mid-1870s, Woodley Park was originally conceived to be a
residential suburb its advertisers claimed to be composed of the finest
country seats ever offered for sale near the urban center, a mere 20 minute
walk from Dupont Circle. Construction in Woodley Park did not begin until the
20th century. As the subdivision evolved, it became an urban neighborhood
characterized by townhouses and rowhouses set within a lush park-like setting.
The architecture and landscape plan which are consistent within the
traditional boundaries of 01d Woodley Park give the district a distinct visual

identity.
Boundaries

01d Woodley Park is located on high ground north and west of Rock Creek. Rock
Creek’s steep ravine and the landscaping of Rock Creek Park define the eastern
and southern boundaries of the neighborhood. On the north, 01d Woodley Park
is defined by Cathedral Avenue, the boundary of the original subdivision.

29th Street forms the western boundary and the boundaries are completed by
Woodley Road to 24th Street to Calvert Street, following the original winding
pattern of Woodley Road. These boundaries are consistent with the original
subdivision of Woodley Park in the mid-1870s and its subsequent development in

the 20th Century.

Upon completion of the Woodley Park surveyl, 422 extant buildings were
jdentified within the boundaries of the proposed historic district. Of these,
398 (94% of extant buildings) pre-date 1945 and contribute to the character of
the Woodley Park neighborhood. According to the current regulations of the

! A comprehensive historic resources survey of the architectural, social,

cultural, and archeological history of Woodley Park was conducted in 1987-1988
by the Woodley Park Historical Association and partially funded by the D.C.
Historic Preservation Division with Survey and Planning funds from the
National Park Service. Data was collected and evaluated for all primary ,
structures. Outbuildings such as garages or carriage houses were not included
in this study and no evaluation of their significance was made; this does not
reflect upon their potential importance. The archeological component of the
survey consisted of a literature search and a walk-through survey. No
undisturbed archeological sites were identified.
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"National Register of Historic P]acesz, buildings such as the 24 which were
constructod ofter 1945 are not considered to contribute to the significance of

th1;(area by virtue of their date of construction. No other evaluation has
been made of these buildings so that, with the passage of time, the potent1a1

contribution of these buildings remains to be assessed.

Street Pattern

Today the streets of Woodley Park generally follow the city’s grid system.
Historically, however, Woodley Park was planned to have a self-contained
winding street pattern within the original subdivision. Woodley Road was the
main thoroughfare (roughly following the current route of 24th Street, Woodley
Road, 29th Street, Cathedral Avenue, and Woodley Road). Because Woodley
Park’s development was delayed until the 20th century, its original street
patterns were altered and regularized in response to the extension of
Connecticut Avenue and the completion of the officially imposed county street
plan throughout the northwest guadrant.

Connecticut Avenue is now the major thoroughfare cutting through Woodley Park.
Extended in 1830, it has become the major access road to upper northwest
Washington. Today, the length of Connecticut Avenue is lined primarily by
tall structures, mainly apartment buildings and office buildings, punctuated
by groups of smaller commercial buildings. In Woodley Park, however,
sufficient numbers of single-family residences stand along Connectwcut Avenue
to remind the passerby that it once was conceived to be an elegant residential
boulevard. Connecticut Avenue’s potential to bisect 01d Woodley Park has
never materialized, and the area’s historic identity remains intact.

To either side of the Connecticut Avenue corridor, south of Cathedral Avenue,
are quiet streets of rowhouses: Woodley Place, Garfield Street, and 27th,
28th, and 29th Streets. These rowhouses are notable for their rhythmic
patterns of repeating porches, dormers, doorways, and other decorative
elements. Within each row, units were of uniform height, brick material,
decorative detail and relation to the street (generally setback by small front

yards).
Bridges

Woodley Park can be approached by two bridges which provide access to the
neighborhood from areas south and east across Rock Creek Park. The older
bridge is the Taft Bridge crossing Rock Creek at Connecticut Avenue. This
bridge, constructed between 1897 and 1907 and named in 1931 for William Howard
Taft (the former U.S. President, Supreme Court Chief Justice), supports
Connecticut Avenue and connects Woodley Park to the neighborhoods of Sheridan-
Kalorama and Kalorama Triangle. The bridge was the first masonry bridge
erected in the District of Columbia and one of the first and largest
unreinforced concrete bridges in the world. It was constructed of poured-in-

2 Regulations which govern the National Register of Historic Places

establish a 50-year rule on contributing structures. See 36 CFR Part 60,
National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 as amended (Public Law 89-665).
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place concrete with bush-hammered surfaces of exposed granite-like concrete
aggregate. The main arches are topped by six open spandrels arches and arch
rings, quoins and other trim were constructed of pre-cast concrete blocks. At
either end of the bridge are pairs of concrete lions sculpted by R. Hinton

Perry.

The second bridge spans Rock Creek from the east. The Calvert Street Bridge
(now called the Duke El1lington Bridge) was designed by Paul Cret and engineers
Modjeski, Masters and Chase of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. Completed in 1935,
it is a concrete structure faced with smooth Indiana limestone. It has three
semi-circular arches with triangular pylons. The whole structure is simply
trimmed because it was specifically designed to be subordinate to the Taft

Bridge.
Architecture

Rowhouses and Townhouses

Woodley Park is distinguishable as a neighborhood because of the unity of its
building types and the similar derivation of its architectural styles. The
neighborhood is composed primarily of large rowhouse and townhouse residences.
These were designed and constructed by a variety of notable local architects
and builders, men who shaped residential Washington in the early decade of the
20th century. Well-known local developers, such as Middaugh and Shannon, and
Harry Wardman, share the responsibility for Woodley Park’s development with
such architects as Clarke Waggaman, Albert H. Beers, and A.H. Sonnemann, men
known for their skilled handling of the classical styles. Architects Hunter
and Bell, William Allard, Joseph Bonn, and George T. Santmyers were active as
well. These men, although working individually, established a unified visual
appearance for the new neighborhood. The strength of this visual coherence
lies in the buildings’ similarity of massing, choice of stylistic derivations,
color of materials, height, and relation to the street.

The architecture in 01d Woodley Park, for the most part, illustrates various
interpretations of the classical tradition, primarily as inherited from the
English interpretation of classical architecture and the slightly varied
perspective of that tradition as used in the American colonies. The primary
stylistic character is a subdued, polite classicism marked by delicacy of
scale and restraint of decorative detail. A1l of the rows of houses in
Woodley Park share a common scale, are more linear than broad, urbane but
unpretentious in design. Ornamentation is primarily derived from the English
design vocabulary and includes such details as keystones over windows, panel
insets on the facade between floors, doors highlighted by fanlights and
cidelights, Roman Doric columns of delicate proportions, and Palladianesque

windows.

Classicism within the domestic context is the characteristic of architecture
in Woodley Park which contains examples of other countries” 'versions of '
"classical” traditions as well, most notably French in the buildings de51gned
by Clarke Waggaman, Spanish Med1terranean tradition, and Italian.



In the 1920s, the established residential character of the neighborhood was
clightly interrupted by the maturation of Connecticut Avenue from a
residential boulevard to a major transportation thoroughfare. The effect of
the development of Connecticut Avenue was to create a community whose quiet
tree-lined side streets were united to a major transportation artery.
Apartment buildings were developed along Connecticut Avenue which reflect the
same architectural detail as the single-family houses, a restrained
architecture in the English neo-classical tradition.

French Classical Traditions

The first buildings in Woodley Park were individual townhouses located along
Connecticut Avenue. From the design of these early structures, it appears
that Connecticut Avenue was initially conceived as a residential boulevard for
individually commissioned residences. These dwellings were urban in
orientation. The facades of these residences generally front directly on the
sidewalk and have no front yards. Unlike the many rows which were often
conceived as a unit, these buildings, while developed in pairs or singly, were
designed to be read as individual structures.

The noted Washington, D.C. architect, Clarke Waggaman (1877-1919) designed the
first building constructed in Woodley Park. It was, moreover, the first
design of his architectural career. Located at 2600 Connecticut Avenue (now
demolished), the building reflected his taste for the classical in
architecture, particularly French classicism.

French classicism may be defined as the refined Baroque style of the Louis XIV
period which corresponds to other high style architectural periods of the past
such as that of the ancient world and of the Italian Renaissance. Derived
from those periods, the term "classical" suggests qualities of balance and
restraint according to H.W. Janson in his authoritative Historvy of Art (New
York, 1971, p. 434). In French hands, classicism in architecture married
plastic detail with a rigid symmetry for an effect both festive and severe.
With the death of Louis XIV, the characteristics of the style were translated
into a more intimate scale for townhouses being built in large numbers in
Paris in the late 17th and early 18th centuries.

French classicism became one of Waggaman’s favorite architgctura] styles in
his early career, probably due to his time spent in Paris.” Six of his early

architectural designs illustrating this preference presently grace Connecticut
Avenue (See Photo #9). 2519 (Photo #1) and 2602 Connecticut Avenue are among
the most elegant of these early buildings. They have rusticated limestone
bases, mansard roofs, and restrained ornamentation consisting of stone courses
and roofs. 2604 Connecticut adheres to a formula more English than French
with its source in the neo-classicism of the Adams period with sunken panels,
precminent keystones, lintels, and a planar surface.

3 See sketch in Grace Waggaman Holtzman, C1arke'Waqdaman, AIA, 1877-
1918: A Tribute, Published by the Author, 1986.
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Waggaman became a popular architect in Washington, D.C., specializing in
private residences. During his l4-year architectural career, he was
responsible for over 100 commissions. Much of his subsequent work retained
the classica] vocabulary illustrated by these early buildings in Woodley
Park." Waggaman’s partner George N. Ray continued the firm’s tradition of

design using the French and English legacies. In 2607 Connecticut he uses a
delicate neo-classicism apparent in the proportions, window and door
surrounds, and decorative details.

Another example which reflects the French architectural tradition is 2816-2818
Cathedral Avenue. These two units were designed in 1910 by Frederick A.
Fletcher in an angular mansarded style suggesting the French classical
aesthetic. Keystones mark the slightly arched architrave of each window and
are the major decorative detail on the tall facade. The porches are in
keeping with the severe angularity of the design with plain entablatures and
columns of the Roman Doric order.

Engtish Design Tradition

While French classicism inspired some of the first designs in Woodley Park, it
was soon engulfed by the popularity of architectural designs derived from the
then popular English heritage. These design elements were used in the first
major construction phase in 01d Woodley Park between 1908 and 1911 and
continued through the 1920s.

Between 1908 and 1910, Woodley Park grew at a tremendous rate; in 1909, the
most prolific year of construction in the history of Woodley Park, 102
buildings were constructed. Although architects were designing buildings for
a variety of speculative developers, the majority of these buildings show a
coherent unity, with various designs reflecting the English classical
heritage. Woodley Park demonstrates the transition from 19th-century
rowhouses (with irregular massing, projecting bays, and ornamental brick work
and sculpted stone lintels) to classicism (with plain flat facades, classical
proportions, and restrained ornamentation). Moreover, the architecture in the
earliest buildings in Woodley Park reflects the varying interpretations of the
architects as to how the transition should be effected.

Hunter and Bell designed the first group of rowhouses in Woodley Park, 2619-
2641 Garfield Street (Photo #2) in 1807. These twelve three-story houses were
designed in the English tradition with flat facades, varied brick work,
angular, restrained ornamentation and pronounced limestone keystones. There
is a typically late 19th-century vocabulary seen especially in the roofs and
eyebrow dormers popular in the revival style known as the Queen Anne. The
architects conceived the row as a single composition. There is a distinct
pattern in the placement of the individual buildings, seen in their roof lines
and window patterns. The rhythm works inward from the outer buildings,
following a 1-2-3-2-4-2 pattern. The alternating use of detail to give.a

" sense of variety within a regularly repeating framework would become
characteristic of the rows of units in Woodley Park. Another detail which was

4 1bid.



to become widely used in Woodley Park was the deep front porch which was
generally extended across only two-thirds of the width of the facade. Typical

of the Woodiey Park architecture is the deep set-back from the street creating
a park-like strip of green behind which the buildings sit.

Across the street at 2606-2634 Garfield Street, Harry Wardman constructed a
row of fifteen houses designed by Albert Beers in 1508 (Photo #3). This row-
is a delightful blend of several English elements. The overall design of the
row is achieved by repeating pairs of identical units side by side with a
distinctive group of three similar units in the center. On this row, the
delicately scaled Palladian window motif--a single arcuated lintel uniting two
rectangular windows on either side of an arched window characteristically used
throughout the 18th century in England--was used at the second floor level on
four of the units. A row of four single round-arched windows was alternately
used on four other units. Two units had a distinctive detail which was to
become common throughout Woodley Park, i.e. dormer windows at the third floor
level with a flared wall on either side of the window frame, a purposefully
quaint, vernacular detail suggesting the influence of the English Arts and
Crafts movement. In the middle of the row are three buildings with stepped
gable roofs over the second-story windows reminiscent of Queen Anne Revival in
England. Strong lintels and the delicate proportions of doorways tie all the
variations the English neo-classical. ’

In the same year (1908), a row of finely crafted three-story townhouses was
designed by A.H. Sonnemann for the Kennedy Brothers at 2614-2640 Woodley Place
(Photo #4). This row of fourteen buildings (completed in 1908) is unified by
the characteristic predominance of red brick and alternating detailing derived
from English sources such as the Adam-style panels and Jacobean curved gables
especially popular in the Queen Anne Revival style of late 19th-century
England. The linear organization of the typical units of the Edwardian period
was emphasized in some by a two-story bay heightened by a parapet in front.
Here, Sonnemann used another stylistic detail already introduced into Woodley
Park, namely the canted shingled dormers redolent of the Arts and Crafts
movement with its bold geometric shapes and natural materials. The bays,
varied roof lines, and dormers all contribute to the rhythm of the row.
Further variations was created in the row’s overall design by the use of
porches. The linear quality of these units is accented by their siting on a
ridge parallel to Connecticut Avenue overlooking Cathedral Avenue and the
park. With their English styling and angular height, these units have the
most Edwardian air of those townhouses built in Woodley Park.

In 1911, Sonnemann repeated these same basic design elements in 2615-2621
Woodley Place, executed in the tan-colored Roman brick the early decades of
the century found to be refined. The prominence of the deep overhanging eaves
with exposed rafter ends is reminiscent of the Arts and Crafts movement in
England. On Woodley Place, Sonnemann respected the Woodley Park landscape
design with deep setbacks for a park-like strip of green framing the street.

English design precedents are also seen in three groups of rowhouses

constructed along Cathedral Avenue by the builder L.E. Breuninger. Initially
designed by Albert Beers (2608-2616 and 2800-2814 Cathedral Avenue) in March
1909 and completed by Nicholas Grimm (2702-2714 Cathedral Avenue) in November
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